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COMES NOW, Plaintiff, Bailey Reed, by and through her attorney, Nicole Gorovsky of 

Gorovsky Law, LLC, and for her Complaint against Defendant, Southern Illinois University 

(“SIU”), d/b/a Southern Illinois University at Edwardsville (“SIUE”), states as follows: 

 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

 

1. Jurisdiction lies under 28 U.S.C. §1331 and § 1343(a)(4) in as much as this complaint 

presents a federal question.  

2. Plaintiff brings this action in part pursuant to Title IX of the Education Amendments of 

1972 (20 U.S.C. §1681) which is an act of Congress providing for protection of civil rights.  

3. Venue in the Southern District of Illinois is appropriate because the occurrences 

complained of took place in Madison County, Illinois, and the Defendants and Plaintiff reside 

within the Southern District of Illinois. 28 U.S.C. §1391.  

PARTIES 

 

4. Plaintiff, Bailey Reed is an adult female and was at all times relevant to this complaint a  

student, attending courses and living on the Southern Illinois University Campus in 

Edwardsville, Illinois.  

5. Defendants Randall Pembrook, Ashley Cox, Kara Shustrin and Chad Martinez are all  

employees of Defendant SIUE and acted in the course and scope of their employment at all times 

relevant herein.   

6. Defendant, Southern Illinois University is a pubic university, administered by, and 

conducting its business in the State of Illinois, with business offices in Edwardsville, Illinois.   

FACTS APPLICABLE TO ALL COUNTS 

 

7. In October 2017, Plaintiff was a student at Southern Illinois University in 
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Edwardsville.  She lived in campus housing in a building called Evergreen Hall. 

      8.  During the month of October, another student at SIUE and Plaintiff exchanged friendly  

and “flirty” text messages.   Plaintiff liked the other student.  

      9. At one-point in the text exchanges, the other student asked Plaintiff, “Do you find me  

trustworthy?” She replied, “From what I know, Absolutely.” He then asked, “Do you think I’m 

respectful?” She replied, “From what I know, I think you’re a great guy.”  

      10.  A day or so later, on October 17, 2017, he asked her via online communication what she  

was doing. She replied that she was getting ready to leave to meet a friend. He quickly responded 

that he was coming over to her studio on-campus apartment. Plaintiff did not invite the student to 

her apartment that evening, but she liked him, so she did not protest.   

     11.  Plaintiff signed the other student into her campus building, authorizing him to come to  

her apartment. In her apartment, he grabbed Plaintiff’s hand and pulled her onto his lap.  Plaintiff 

was uncomfortable and tried to pull herself away. He then started to kiss Plaintiff and she kissed 

him back, but she quickly told him that she did not want to have sex.  

     12.  The student ignored Plaintiff’s words and threw her onto her bed from the chair in which 

they had been sitting. He then pulled her head toward his genitals to force her to perform oral sex 

through his clothing.  Plaintiff said “NO,” and told him that she was “not into that sort of thing.” 

She said she wanted to get to know him better before doing “anything.” He then grabbed 

Plaintiff’s hand and forced it toward his genitals. He also pulled up her shirt and touched her 

breasts.  Again, Plaintiff said “NO.” This time, she strongly removed her hand from his crotch 

area, and she tried to pull her body away.  Again, she said she wanted to get to know him first 

and take things “slow.”   

      13.  During the sexual assault that continued from this point, Plaintiff said “NO” to sexual 
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contact with the male student at least seven times. Nonetheless, he forcibly pulled Plaintiff’s 

pants off. She tried to put them back on while he reached for his backpack. When he saw 

Plaintiff trying to get out of the sexual encounter, he sternly said to her “Did I tell you you could 

move?” It was clear to her that he was not joking but was instead angry. As she noticed the size 

difference between them, her fear increased.  

14.  Following those threatening words, the male student grabbed Plaintiff and forcefully 

moved her body and had intercourse with her.  While doing so, his hands pushed on her back to 

hold her down and Plaintiff cried audibly knowing what was happening to her. Repeatedly, he 

said, “It’s fine.” 

15. Later that night, after discussing the event with a friend and her mother, Plaintiff went to  

Anderson Hospital and reported that she had been raped.  

       16.  At Anderson Hospital, a woman entered Plaintiff’s hospital room.  She told Plaintiff 

that she worked for a non-profit rape crisis center named “Call for Help.” She further stated that 

another Call For Help employee, Defendant Ashley Cox worked with all SIUE students who 

were sexually assaulted, and that she would be in touch.  

       17.  Plaintiff was scared, traumatized, and recovering from the rape and then the rape-kit 

medical procedures that she had been through (which included testing and treatment for potential 

sexually transmitted diseases that may have been transmitted during the rape), when she received 

a telephone call from Defendant Cox.  

       18.  Defendant Cox stated that she worked for Call For Help, and that she would keep 

anything Plaintiff reported confidential. Defendant Cox did not reveal that at least four months 

prior, she had become an employee of Defendant SIUE and was acting as its agent.  
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        19. Defendant Cox, still not revealing that she was an employee of the Defendant, told 

Plaintiff that she did not have to report the rape.  

       20.  Plaintiff decided that she wanted to report the assault and went to the SIUE police 

Department.  Defendant Cox met Plaintiff there.  

         21.  At the police Department, Defendant Cox pulled Plaintiff into a room alone and again 

asked her what she wanted to do about moving forward. Plaintiff told Defendant Cox that she 

wanted to report her rape and that she hoped to move from the campus apartment where the rape 

occurred.  

        22.   Defendant Cox briefly described the Defendant University Title IX process 

emphasizing how difficult the Title IX and criminal process would be. She again asked if 

Plaintiff was sure she wanted to make a report. Plaintiff said she wanted to make both reports – 

to the University Title IX Office and to the police. 

        23.  After leaving the room, Plaintiff’s mother told Defendant Cox that she was concerned  

about Plaintiff living in her campus apartment where the rape occurred.  Defendant Cox sternly 

told Plaintiff’s mother in front of Plaintiff that nothing could be done about that.  

        24. Defendant Cox told Plaintiff that she would inform the Defendant Title IX office that  

Plaintiff wanted to report the sexual assault and that someone from that office would contact her 

within a few days. No one from the Title IX office called. Plaintiff’s mother tried to call 

Defendant Cox to learn what happened and Defendant Cox did not call her back. Finally, 

Plaintiff’s mother called the Title IX Office directly.  She still did not receive a return phone call 

until she left a message threatening to contact a Dean. Then, she was told that the entire Title IX 

office was out and that it would be a week or more before someone could meet with the family.  
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          25.  After Plaintiff’s mother called the Title IX office, and was told that it would be over a 

week for a meeting, Plaintiff’s mother demanded quicker action.  Finally, a meeting was set up 

for Plaintiff and her family. During that first meeting, Kara Shustrin, the Associate Dean told 

Plaintiff that the Title IX Office “was aware of the assault” but Defendant Cox told them that 

Plaintiff did not want to make a report.  So, Defendant Shustrin, stated, there was no reason to 

contact the family.  Plaintiff stated that she certainly did want to make a report, and Defendant 

Shustrin and Defendant Chad Martinez, the Title IX Coordinator offered Defendant Cox as a 

support contact and liaison for the Title IX process.  Plaintiff declined Defendant Cox’s 

assistance.   

        26. It was not until September 2018, that Plaintiff and her counsel learned, through online 

research, that Defendant Cox, who discouraged Plaintiff from reporting her sexual assault and 

failed to start the Title IX process when asked was a Defendant university employee.  

       27.  Defendant Cox, as an employee and representative of Defendant University, in the 

course and scope of her employment, actively concealed her role as a Defendant University 

employee while failing to seek accommodations for Plaintiff, actively discouraging Plaintiff 

from moving forward with reports of her abuse and failing to follow through on her offer to 

begin the Title IX process with the Defendant.  

      28.  Plaintiff sought safety accommodations from the Defendant Title IX Office.  Plaintiff  

requested accommodations, safety from retaliation, and the prevention of a hostile environment 

specifically for attending school. 

  

        29.  She began by asking for help with a class that she and her attacker were in together. 
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Defendants Shustrin and Martinez told her that if she was unable to attend the class personally, 

she could attend by Skype daily if she could find a friend to set up the skype in the classroom for 

her.  This excluded Plaintiff from direct access to her education.  The perpetrator was permitted 

to physically attend the class whenever he wanted. Plaintiff and her family contested the fairness 

of allowing the perpetrator to attend class while Plaintiff was unable to due to ser sexual assault. 

Eventually, Defendant University relented and told Plaintiff that the perpetrator would be 

allowed attend every other class and Plaintiff could have a friend use Skype or Facetime inside 

the classroom to show her the lecture on alternate days. Defendants did not provide the 

technology to make that happen, nor did they ensure a Skype savvy friend attended class.  In 

other words, Defendant did not provide an accommodation, but instead cut off Plaintiff’s access 

to half of her course work and made a recommendation for Plaintiff to find her own way to get 

the course material.    

        30.  Plaintiff sought a Civil Order of Protection against her attacker in Madison County, 

Illinois due to concerns for her safety in case number 17OP1589. On October 27, 2018, the Court 

issued an emergency Civil No Contact Order.  The Initial No Contact Order stated that Plaintiff’s 

attacker was not allowed to be within 500 feet of Plaintiff at any time and that he was not 

allowed to attend SIUE.  

       31.  Plaintiff informed Defendant of the No Contact Order. Defendants Shustrin and 

Martinez told Plaintiff that it was her responsibility to enforce the order.   She was required to 

seek her own police escort if she felt unsafe or to call the police if she encountered her attacker.  

      32.  On November 16, 2017, the perpetrator sought and received a modification to the No 
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Contact Order allowing him to visit his apartment on the SIUE campus and to attend two specific 

meetings with a Professor at SIUE only if he communicated through his attorney the dates and 

times of those meetings in advance so that Plaintiff could avoid campus during those times.  He 

was further permitted by the Court to attend his scheduled classes that did not include Plaintiff, 

“provided that he does not initiate any contact with or harass or intimidate [Plaintiff] and makes 

efforts to stay away from her if he encounters her.”  The rest of the No Contact Order remained 

in effect. Defendant University was informed of this modification.  

        33.  Plaintiff’s friends reported that the perpetrator was roaming campus during times when 

he was not attending class in violation of the order. He further went to the school cafeteria and he 

went to the Student Disabilities Services Department where Plaintiff received services.  Plaintiff 

reported this to Defendants Shustrin and Martinez and Defendants took no action. In fact, 

Defendants excused the perpetrator and told Plaintiff that a Professor “invited” the perpetrator to 

her classroom.  They stated that faculty was not informed of the No Contact Order, so the 

perpetrator was permitted to attend meetings with professors in violation of the order.  Plaintiff 

asked Defendant Martinez if because faculty was not aware of the No Contact Order, was the 

perpetrator entitled to lie to them and say that he did not have one.  Defendant Martinez replied 

that yes, the perpetrator was free to tell his professors that there was no Order of Protection and 

that there would be no consequences from the Defendant University for that.  

   34.  In December 2017, the perpetrator, emboldened by the lack of enforcement of the 

Order or any safety plan enforced by Defendants, violated the Order of Protection.  He went to a 

class that he shared with Plaintiff, sat in her seat, and waited for her to arrive. One of Plaintiff’s 

friends alerted Plaintiff, who was on her way to class, that the perpetrator was in the classroom 

before Plaintiff arrived.  Plaintiff called the police and informed them that the perpetrator was in 
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her class and in her seat where he was not allowed to be and that this act constituted violation of 

the Protective Order. The perpetrator was arrested. Following the incident, Defendant University 

did not provide any punishment to the perpetrator for his actions, and did not change its behavior 

with regard to providing safety to Plaintiff.  

       35.  Defendants Martinez and Shustrin allegedly investigated the sexual assault from mid  

October until late February. According to Defendant’s written and published policy regarding 

Title IX investigations, Sexual Assault, Sexual Misconduct and Relationship Violence Policy & 

Procedures - 2C13 & 3C14, “a Title IX Investigation should be completed within thirty (30) 

working days of receipt of a complaint. The Title IX Coordinator may extend this time frame for 

good cause, including University breaks.” Here, although was a school break during the 

investigation, it came after the 30 days had already passed.  

       36.  Upon inquiring, Defendants Shustrin and Martinez told Plaintiff that her attacker had  

requested and they granted him extensions of time in the investigation. This is not good cause.  

      37.  Plaintiff repeatedly asked – through email and through in-person meetings, why the  

investigation was taking so long. Defendants responded that they first gave the perpetrator the 

opportunity and time to respond to the accusation in writing.  Then, they granted him an 

extension of time to submit his written response.  Only after that, did they interview him.   They 

admitted that they gave him too much time.  

       38.  The “investigation” was also heavily gender biased. A witness reported that when she  

was interviewed by the Title IX investigator, the questions were so sexually charged and so 

sexually discriminatory, that she cried and felt that the “investigation” was biased.  

      39.  Counsel for the perpetrator subpoenaed the Defendant University for a copy of security  
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footage from Plaintiff’s dormitory on the night of the assault.  Defendant provided him with the 

footage.  Counsel for Plaintiff requested a copy of the footage and Defendant refused to provide 

it.   

       40.  Defendant Martinez requested a follow-up interview with Plaintiff in January 2018.  

During the interview, Defendant Martinez, after asking Plaintiff to describe the sexual positions 

of the rape in detail, for the third time, literally said “gotcha” to Plaintiff when she was confused 

about the order of text messages she sent after the assault. Moments later, he explained to 

Plaintiff how to appeal the decision of the Title IX office on her complaint, almost a month 

before the decision had been issued.  

       41.  Significantly, during that meeting, Defendant Chad Martinez reiterated to Plaintiff that 

it was “on [the perpetrator] to abide by the Court’s ruling [regarding No Contact].” He further 

put the obligation on her to enforce the order. 

       42.   Two days after the meeting with the Title IX Office at Defendant University, on 

January 11, 2018, Plaintiff had a full permanent Order of Protection hearing in Madison County.  

She testified and was cross examined by the perpetrator’s attorney.  The perpetrator testified and 

was cross-examined by Plaintiff’s counsel.  A Madison County Judge ruled that “Petitioner is a 

victim of non-consensual sexual penetration by Respondent.” He further held that Plaintiff was 

entitled to a full, permanent No Contact Order.  There is a transcript of that hearing.  Defendants 

were not present in Court and did not seek or review the transcript as part of their 

investigation.  

       43.  Finally, on February 9, 2018, over one hundred days following her initial complaint, the 
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Defendant Title IX Office issued a decision regarding Plaintiff’s allegations. The decision was 

that the perpetrator was found to not have violated any Defendant University sexual assault or 

harassment policies.   

       44.  The decision stated a five-point reasoning for the finding:  1)Plaintiff liked and wanted 

to spend time with the perpetrator before the assault; 2) Plaintiff enjoyed attention from the 

perpetrator and that she had been “flirty” with him before the assault; 3) Plaintiff didn’t act the 

way Defendant Martinez believed a rape victim should act immediately following the rape; 4) 

Plaintiff had her timeline of sexual acts and communications confused, so she must not be 

credible; and 5) Defendant Martinez found the literal sexual positions of the assault as described 

by Plaintiff difficult to “envision.” 

       45.  Plaintiff filed a timely appeal of Defendant Martinez’ decision according to  

University policy.  The school Sexual Harassment Panel held a hearing.  During the hearing, 

panel members asked questions of Plaintiff and the perpetrator.  They also asked Plaintiff if she 

had any new evidence.  Plaintiff presented evidence that another victim had come forward to tell 

that perpetrator had attempted to sexually assault her. Defendant did not indicate to Plaintiff that 

they ever followed up on this lead in the investigation. However, The Sexual Harassment Panel 

overruled the findings of the Title IX Office and found for Plaintiff.  

       46.  Yet, a few weeks later, Plaintiff’s counsel received an e-mail communication from an 

administrator at Defendant Chancellor Pembrook’s Office explaining that the Chancellor’s 

determination would be late and apologizing for the delay. Neither Plaintiff not her counsel was 

aware of any determination that was pending with Defendant Pembrook. Counsel inquired 

through multiple emails and telephone calls, until finally, a few days later she was informed that 

Defendant Pembrook was reviewing the decision of the Sexual Harassment Panel at the request 
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of the perpetrator and never told Plaintiff.  When Defendant Pembrook learned that Plaintiff had 

not been informed of the review, he used the lack of information to give himself a further 

extension of time to review the case. 

        47.  On April 19, 2018, six months after Plaintiff filed a complaint with Defendant 

University, Defendant Pembrook reversed the decision of the Sexual Harassment Appeal Panel 

finding for the perpetrator.  Defendant Pembrook did not inform Plaintiff of his decision but 

instead sent a letter addressed to the perpetrator to the perpetrator’s attorney and carbon copied 

Plaintiff’s attorney on an email. Defendant Pembrook never addressed Plaintiff or her counsel 

during his involvement in the process.   

        48.  Defendant Pembrook’s letter did not state any reasoning or explanation for his decision 

denying Plaintiff’s claims; it did not list what he reviewed in making his determination; and 

although it expressed that the perpetrator received all his “due process rights afforded by 

University policy,” it did not express any way in which he protected, upheld or considered 

Plaintiff’s rights.      

       49.  Plaintiff appealed Defendant Pembrook’s decision to the SIUE Board of Trustees.  The 

Board ultimately refused to hear the matter on procedural grounds in September 2018.  The 

University President filed a brief in favor of the perpetrator and Defendants’ investigation and 

findings.  

       50.  In August 2017, two months before Plaintiff was assaulted and reported her rape, the 

Department of Education found that Defendant University had a “pattern of failing to fully 

investigate claims” involving sexual assault on campus. It further found that Defendant’s 

investigations were known to exclude relevant evidence and miss timely deadlines.  Lastly, the 
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Department of Education found that Defendant Martinez, the Title IX Coordinator and the appeal 

panel at Defendant University were not adequately trained on what relevant evidence was to be 

considered. Defendant University was ordered to provide training to its Title IX employees.   

COUNT I 

VIOLATION OF TITLE IX 

Against Defendant University 

(20 U.S.C. § 1681, et seq.) 

(Deliberate Indifference to Sexual Harassment) 

 

       51.  All paragraphs above are incorporated herein by reference.  

       52.  The sex-based harassment articulated above was so severe, pervasive, and objectively 

offensive that it deprived Plaintiff of access to educational opportunities or benefits provided by 

the Defendant University.  

       53.  The Defendant University created and/or subjected Plaintiff to a hostile educational 

environment in violation of Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, 20 U.S.C. § 1681(a) 

(“Title IX”), because a) Plaintiff was a member of a protected class; b) she was subjected to 

sexual harassment in the form of a sexual assault by another student; c) she was subjected to 

harassment based on her sex; and d) she was subjected to a hostile educational environment 

created by the Defendant’s lack of policies and procedures, failure to follow policies and 

procedures, and failure to properly investigate and/or address the sexual assault and subsequent 

harassment. 

       54.  Defendant University and its officials had actual knowledge of the sexual assault and 

the resulting harassment of Plaintiff created by its failure to investigate and discipline Plaintiff’s 

attacker in a timely manner and consistent with its own policy and federal and state law. 
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       55.  The Defendant University’s failure to promptly and appropriately respond to the alleged 

sexual harassment, resulted in Plaintiff, on the basis of her sex, being excluded from 

participation in, being denied the benefits of, and being subjected to discrimination in the 

University’s education program in violation of Title IX. 

       56.  Defendant University failed to take immediate, effective remedial steps to resolve the 

complaints of sexual harassment and instead acted with deliberate indifference toward Plaintiff. 

       57.  Defendant University persisted in its actions and inaction even after it had actual 

knowledge of the harm suffered by Plaintiff. 

       58.  Defendant University engaged in a pattern and practice of behavior designed to 

discourage and dissuade students and parents of students who had been sexually assaulted from 

seeking prosecution and protection and from seeking to have sexual assaults from being fully 

investigated.  

       59.  This policy and/or practice constituted disparate treatment of females and had a 

disparate impact on female students.  

       60.  Plaintiff has suffered emotional distress and psychological damage, and her character 

and standing in her community have suffered from the harassment fostered as a direct and 

proximate result of Defendant University’s deliberate indifference to her rights under Title IX. 

COUNT II 

VIOLATION OF TITLE IX  

Against Defendant University 

(20 U.S.C. § 1681, et seq.) 

 (Failure to accommodate and/or eliminate hostile environment and/or prevent retaliation 

as required by Title IX) 

       61.  All paragraphs above are incorporated herein by reference. 

Case 3:18-cv-01968   Document 1   Filed 10/16/18   Page 14 of 21   Page ID #14



15 
 

       62.  Defendant University failed to accommodate Plaintiff by refusing to enforce any No 

Contact Orders – including those issued by Defendant or those ordered by the Madison County 

Court.  

       63.  Because of Defendant’s actions and/or inactions, Plaintiff’s attacker was able to 

intimidate her, create a hostile educational environment, and retaliate against her. 

       64.  Plaintiff was afraid for her safety on campus such that it affected her access to 

education.   

       65.  Defendant took no corrective action toward Plaintiff’s attacker when he violated their 

orders and Court Orders thus allowing him to affect her access to education.  

       66.  Plaintiff has suffered emotional distress and psychological damage, and her character 

and standing in her community have suffered from the harassment fostered as a direct and 

proximate result of Defendant University’s deliberate indifference to her rights under Title IX. 

COUNT III 

VIOLATION OF TITLE IX  

Against Defendant University and Defendant Martinez and Defendant Pembrook 

(20 U.S.C. § 1681, et seq.) 

 (Erroneous result based on gender bias) 

 

       67.  All paragraphs above are incorporated herein by reference. 

       68.  Defendant University displayed gender discrimination throughout its investigation and 

evaluation of Plaintiff’s allegations.  

       69.  Defendant Martinez conducted the investigation in a discriminatory manner when he 

repeatedly questioned Plaintiff about the excruciating sexual details of her assault instead of 

using detailed reports of police interviews or transcripts of court hearings.  He showed 
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significant signs of gender bias in questioning witnesses such as asking female students who 

were not present during the assault to repeatedly recite details regarding the sex acts that Plaintiff 

described.   

       70.  Defendant Martinez’ investigation report contained solely gender stereotypes regarding 

how Plaintiff flirted with her attacker before the assault, was attracted to her attacker prior to the 

assault, didn’t act like a rape victim should act because she ate sometime after the assault, and 

because he could not “envision” the positions she described of the forced sex acts during the 

assault.  

       71.  The appellate process was equally discriminatory as Defendant Pembrook, Chancellor 

of the University failed to tell Plaintiff he was reviewing the case at the request of the 

perpetrator, he failed to directly notify Plaintiff of his findings following his review, he assured 

the perpetrator that his rights were protected without offering any similar assurances to Plaintiff, 

and he provided no basis at all for his finding that the perpetrator did not assault Plaintiff.  

       72.  Despite Defendant Pembrook offering Plaintiff the opportunity to appeal his decision to 

the Board of Trustees of Defendant University, he then opposed the appeal saying that there was 

no such procedural mechanism for reviewing the case on its merits.  The University President 

agreed that there was no such mechanism, and Plaintiff was left with a discriminatory Title IX 

report, no explanation from the Chancellor for supporting it, and no recourse.  

       73.  Defendant University came to an erroneous result based on gender bias.  Plaintiff can 

identify specific facts and comments by Defendant employees that are indicative of gender 

discrimination. Plaintiff, although not literally punished by the erroneous result had her liberty 

on the line in this process.  The University was investigating her ability to complete her 
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education in safety and without trauma.  The erroneous result based on gender discrimination 

caused her to suffer greatly from the entire discriminatory process and from knowing that her 

University, the one she cheered for at athletic events, the one to which she paid thousands of 

dollars, the one she though she wanted her little brother to attend, betrayed her because she was a 

woman.   

       74.  Plaintiff has suffered emotional distress and psychological damage, and her character 

and standing in her community have suffered from the harassment fostered as a direct and 

proximate result of Defendant University’s deliberate indifference to her rights under Title IX. 

COUNT IV 

1983 VIOLATION  

Against All Defendants 

(42 U.S.C. § 1983) 

 

 

       75.  All paragraphs above are incorporated herein by reference. 

       76.  Under the Fourteenth Amendment, Plaintiff had the right as a public University student 

to personal security and bodily integrity and Equal Protection of Laws.  

       77.   Defendants Pembrook, Cox, Shustrin and Martinez were all state actors acting under 

the color of state law.  

       78.   Defendants each subjected Plaintiff to violations of her right to personal security and 

bodily integrity and Equal Protection of Laws by: failing to investigate the perpetrator’s 

misconduct; failing to appropriately discipline the perpetrator; failing to adequately train and 

supervise Pembrook, Cox, Shustrin and Martinez; and manifesting deliberate indifference to the 

sexual assault and ongoing harassment of Plaintiff.  
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       79.  Defendant University has and/or had unconstitutional customs or policies of a) failing to 

investigate evidence of criminal and tortious misconduct against University students in the nature 

of violations of their right to personal security and bodily integrity and b) failing to adequately 

train and supervise University employees with regard to maintaining, preserving and protecting 

students from violations of their right to personal security, bodily integrity, and Equal Protection 

of the Laws.  

       80.   On information and belief, the Defendant University has followed these 

unconstitutional customs and policies not only with regard to Plaintiff but also with regard to 

criminal and tortious misconduct committed against other University students.  

       81.   The Defendant University’s policies and/or practices constituted disparate treatment of 

females and had a disparate impact on female students.  

       82.   Defendants Pembrook, Cox, Shustrin and Martinez are or were at the time of events 

complained of within, policymakers for the purpose of implementing the University’s 

unconstitutional policies or customs.  

       83.   Plaintiff has suffered emotional distress and psychological damage, and her character 

and standing in her community have suffered from the harassment fostered as a direct and 

proximate result of Defendant University’s deliberate indifference to her rights under the 

Fourteenth Amendment.  

COUNT V 

MONELL LIABILITY FOR FAILURE TO TRAIN AND SUPERVISE AS TO 

RESPONSE TO SEXUAL ASSAULT 

Against Defendant University 

(42 U.S.C. § 1983) 

 

       84.  All paragraphs above are incorporated herein by reference. 
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       85.   Defendants Pembrook, Shustrin, Cox and Martinez, were “state actors” working for 

Defendant University, a state and federally funded University. 

       86.   Defendants Pembrook, Shustrin, Cox, and Martinez acted under “color of law” when 

refusing to properly respond to Plaintiff’s sexual assault on University premises.  

       87.   Defendants Pembrook, Shustrin, Cox, and Martinez failed to preserve Plaintiff’s 

constitutional right to equal protection as guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment.  

       88.   Under the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, Plaintiff had the 

right to equal access to an educational environment free from harassment and discrimination.  

       89.   Defendants Pembrook, Shustrin, Cox, and Martinez should have known that their 

response to sexual assault allegations must comply with federal law, particularly as outlined in 

Title IX’s published and widely promulgated implementing regulations.  

       90.   Defendants Pembrook, Shustrin, Cox, and Martinez each violated Plaintiff’s right to 

equal access by: 

a. Failing to take immediate and appropriate action to investigate or otherwise 

determine what occurred once informed of possible sexual violence;  

b. Failing to take prompt and effective steps to end the sexual violence, prevent its 

recurrence, and address its effects, whether or not the sexual violence is the subject of a 

criminal investigation;  

c. Failing to take steps to protect the Plaintiff as necessary, including interim steps 

taken prior to the outcome of the investigation;  

d. Failing to properly investigate sexual violence. 
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e. Failing to use a preponderance of the evidence standard to resolve complaints 

of sex discrimination in grievance procedures;  

f. Failing to provide equal access to evidence in the University’s possession;  

g. Failing to notify both parties of appeals; and 

h. Failing to notify both parties of the outcome of the complaint. 

       91.  Defendant University violated Plaintiff’s Fourteenth Amendment right to equal 

protection by failing to properly train and supervise its employees as to these mandated 

requirements.  

       92.  These policies and/or practices constituted disparate treatment of females and had a 

disparate impact on female students.  

       93.   Defendants’ actions and lack of actions were the proximate cause of Plaintiff’s 

emotional distress and psychological damage, and her character and standing in her community 

have suffered from the harassment fostered because of Defendant University’s deliberate 

indifference to her right to equal protection under the Fourteenth Amendment. 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests judgment in her favor and against 

Defendants, as follows:  

A. Compensatory damages for Plaintiff’s psychological and emotional distress and 

damages, loss of standing in her community, damage to her reputation, and her family’s 

unreimbursed out of pocket expenses incurred in response to these circumstances;  

B. Punitive damages;  
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C. Injunctive relief requiring Defendant University to take effective steps to prevent sex-

based discrimination and harassment, including sexual assault, in its education programs; fully 

investigate conduct that may constitute sex-based harassment and /or sexual assault; 

appropriately respond to all conduct that may constitute sex-based harassment and /or sexual 

assault; and mitigate the effects of harassment and/or assault including by eliminating any hostile 

environment that may arise from or contribute to it.  

D. Statutory interest;  

E. Costs; and  

F. Reasonable attorney fees. 

JURY DEMAND 

Plaintiff, by and through her attorneys, Gorovsky Law, LLC demands a trial by jury.  

 

     Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

/s/Nicole E. Gorovsky___________ 

Nicole Gorovsky, MO Bar #51046, IL Bar 6307588      

GOROVSKY LAW, LLC 

12747 Olive Blvd., Suite 300 

St. Louis, MO  63141 

Phone: (314) 272-3255 

Fax: (314) 787-6101 

Nicole@Gorovskylaw.com 

 

ATTORNEY FOR PLAINTIFF 
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